Page 1 of 25

**FILED** 08-17-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2020AP2012-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

JAMES P. KILLIAN,

Defendant-Respondent.

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KARA L. JANSON Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1081358

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 261-5809 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) jansonkl@doj.state.wi.us

#

### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Generally, when a defendant moves for a mistrial, the Double Jeopardy Clause does not bar a retrial. There's a narrow exception to this general rule: where a prosecutor intentionally goads a defendant into obtaining a mistrial. *Oregon v. Kennedy*, 456 U.S. 667, 672–73 (1982). When that happens, the State may not initiate a successive prosecution for the *same offense*. *Id*.

Here, Killian's first trial ended in a mistrial after the prosecutor violated the circuit court's ruling that he couldn't introduce other-acts evidence on grounds of prejudice. The court found that the prosecutor intentionally goaded a mistrial. Later, the State brought new charges; under a straightforward application of the *Blockburger*<sup>1</sup> test, they are not two prosecutions for the same offense.

Has the State exposed Killian to multiple prosecutions for the same offense in violation of double-jeopardy principles?

5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Blockburger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932).

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 6 of 25

#### STATEMENT OF CRITERIA SUPPORTING REVIEW

This Court's decision "will help develop, clarify or harmonize the law, and . . . [t]he question presented is a novel one, the resolution of which will have statewide impact." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)2.

This case presents this Court with an opportunity to develop the law on two important questions. First, how do courts determine the scope of jeopardy when a prosecution ends in a mistrial rather than a conviction or acquittal? Second, what does it mean to actually be in danger of conviction and punishment? Where a prosecutor talks about the *possibility* of adding charges to conform to *possible* trial evidence, does that put a defendant in actual danger of conviction and punishment for those hypothetical charges? What if there's no realistic threat that the court will allow such amendments to the Information? The bench and bar need guidance on both issues.

In *State v. Schultz*, 2020 WI 24, ¶ 2, 390 Wis. 2d 570, 939 N.W.2d 519, the first prosecution ended in an acquittal, and the issue was whether the State's successive prosecution was for the same offense. *Schultz*, 390 Wis. 2d 570, ¶ 1. To answer that question, Schultz wanted this Court to narrowly focus on the charging language. *Id.* ¶ 23. But after surveying numerous authorities, this Court concluded, "Regardless of whether the first prosecution results in an *acquittal* or a *conviction*, it is the record in its entirety that reveals the scope of jeopardy." *Id.* ¶ 32 (emphasis added).

Here, the court of appeals applied *Schultz*'s entire-record test to an entirely different context. Killian's first trial didn't end in an acquittal or a conviction. Rather, it ended when the prosecutor intentionally goaded a mistrial after three witnesses completed their testimony. That distinguishes this case from *Schultz* and the many cases it relies upon for the entire-record rule. *See Schultz*, 390 Wis. 2d

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 7 of 25

570, ¶¶ 26–30. Yet, the court of appeals assumed that *Schultz* applies. (Pet-App. 17.) Does it? The absence of binding or persuasive authority on this question alone warrants this Court's review.

Even if *Schultz*'s entire-record test applies to a subsequent prosecution after a mistrial, it requires an examination of the objective jeopardy faced by the defendant, not his subjective perception. In *Schultz*, this Court emphasized that jeopardy means "actual danger" of conviction and punishment. *Schultz*, 390 Wis. 2d 570, ¶ 31. It's well established that there must be a realistic threat of double jeopardy. *See State v. Fawcett*, 145 Wis. 2d 244, 255, 426 N.W.2d 91 (Ct. App. 1988). This Court therefore rejected Schultz's position that jeopardy is based "on the criminal defendant's fears, beliefs, or perceptions regarding his exposure in the first prosecution." *Schultz*, 390 Wis. 2d 570, ¶ 31.

In this case, the court of appeals decided that Killian faced actual danger of conviction and punishment for charges that the State indisputably didn't bring in the first prosecution because the prosecutor made comments about the *possibility* of adding charges to conform to *possible* trial evidence. Considering that a defendant isn't in jeopardy for uncharged offenses (including conduct mentioned in otheracts evidence), does this constitute "actual danger" of conviction and punishment, as Schultz requires? Schultz, 390 Wis. 2d 570, ¶ 31.

Finally, in deciding what danger Killian actually faced at trial, should the court of appeals have narrowly focused on the prosecutor's statements and actions? It purported to apply *Schultz*'s entire-record test to this novel situation. (Pet-App. 21.) But it gave no weight to the circuit court's refusal to allow last-minute changes to the State's case—including the addition of charges—on account of prejudice to Killian. At trial, a court cannot allow an amendment of the Information

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 8 of 25

to conform to the proof if it's prejudicial to the defendant. See Wis. Stat. § 971.29. So, this aspect of the record is critically important to deciding the actual scope of jeopardy here. Yet, the court of appeals completely discounted the circuit court's gatekeeping role in deciding what charges Killian actually faced.

In short, the court of appeals concluded that the severe outcome here—barring the State from bringing child sexual assault and incest charges against Killian—is consistent with *Schultz*. (Pet-App. 31.) Is it? Review is warranted, and this Court doesn't need to take the State's word for it. Killian sought publication in the court of appeals because "this is a case of first impression in the State of Wisconsin, perhaps the country." (Killian's Br. 9, 19.)

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Killian's first prosecution

The State's first prosecution of Killian involved two cases and two victims: Britney and Ashley.<sup>2</sup>

Britney's case. In March 2015, the State charged Killian with one count of first-degree sexual assault of a child under age 12. (Pet-App. 6.) This case involves Britney. (Pet-App. 6.) The complaint listed the timeframe for the assault as "on or about Monday, August 18, 2014." (Pet-App. 6.) In the probable cause section, the State alleged that on August 18, 2014, Killian grabbed Britney's buttocks. (Pet-App. 6.) The probable cause section also detailed Britney's forensic interview. (Pet-App. 6.) During that interview, Britney stated that Killian had squeezed her buttocks on five different occasions "starting when she was about eight years old." (R. 1:2.) Britney also reported that Killian "touched her 'boobies' underneath her clothes" one time in 2014. (R. 1:2.)

8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These are pseudonyms. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.86.

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 9 of 25

Given the allegations beyond Killian touching Britney's buttocks on August 18, 2014, Killian filed a motion in limine to determine what he was being tried for. (R. 73:72; 75:16–17; 82:31–32.) At that hearing, the prosecutor stated that "the actual incident alleged . . . is one night." (R. 73:71.) He said that he planned to introduce evidence of grooming behavior, like Killian asking if he could be Britney's boyfriend or buying her gifts. (Pet-App. 7.) And the prosecutor intended to introduce other-acts evidence that the court had just deemed admissible: evidence of Killian's sexual assaults against Ashley between January 1988 and December 1999. (Pet-App. 7.) Beyond that, the prosecutor didn't object to Killian's request to exclude other-acts evidence. (Pet-App. 7.) So, the court granted Killian's motion. (Pet-App. 7.)

Ashley's case. Ashley's case started one year after Britney's case. (Pet-App. 6.) Ashley is Killian's daughter. (Pet-App. 4.) The State charged Killian with one count of repeated sexual assault of a child under age 16. (Pet-App. 6.) The charging period allegation was "April 1994 through December 1999." (Pet-App. 6.) The probable cause section detailed Ashley's report to police, where she said that the assaults started when she was 6 years old and ended when she was 17. (Pet-App. 6.) According to Ashley, the assaults would have started around January 1988 and ended around December 1999. (Pet-App. 6.) They "ranged from Killian touching Ashley's vagina to Killian having sexual intercourse with her." (Pet-App. 6.)

Joint trial. Britney's and Ashley's cases were joined for trial. (Pet-App. 7.)

At the start of the trial, the circuit court addressed the prosecutor's late request to amend the Information in two

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This was later changed to April 1994 through November 30, 1998, to account for Ashley's correct birthdate. (R. 14; 75:15.)

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 10 of 25

ways. (Pet-App. 7.) First, he wanted to expand the charging period allegation for Britney, from on or about August 18, 2014, to on or between January 2014 and August 18, 2014. (Pet-App. 7.) Second, he wanted to charge Killian with one count of incest in Ashley's case, occurring sometime between April 1994 and December 1999. (Pet-App. 7.)

The circuit court denied the prosecutor's request to add the incest charge, finding it extremely prejudicial to Killian. (Pet-App. 8.) The court said that it was "inexcusable that we have this charged this late in the game." (R. 75:14-15.) The prosecutor commented that "maybe the proof at the trial will be sufficient to convince the Court that more sexual intercourse occurred which would be a basis for this charge." (R. 75:15–16.) The court responded: "And, again, the [S]tate's lack of preparation should not prejudice the defendant. The state's had ample opportunity to make those considerations. . . . So I'm not going to allow it." (R. 75:16.)

Consistent with that logic—that "the [S]tate's lack of preparation should not prejudice the defendant"—the court allowed the prosecutor to amend the charging period allegation for Britney with an important caveat. It ruled that the broadening of the charging period was just to give "a window" for when Killian touched Britney's buttocks, not to allow the prosecutor to get in other-acts evidence previously deemed inadmissible. (R. 75:16–22; Pet-App. 7.) Responding to defense counsel's concern that the prosecutor was asking to "present evidence of other sexual acts and then have the jury consider those," the circuit court stated, "We've clearly had a motion in limine on that. If there were intentions to introduce those at trial, then those were required to have been

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 11 of 25

addressed and they were not addressed at all. So there's already been a ruling on that." 4 (R. 75:22.)

Before the jury was empaneled, the circuit court also addressed the prosecutor's request that it "reconsider its previous order not allowing the recording [of Britney's forensic interview] to be played." (R. 75:36.) Defense counsel objected on grounds of prejudice, noting the pretrial ruling. (R. 75:40.) The court denied the prosecutor's request, opining, "[T]o come up with this the morning of trial is absolutely ridiculous and inexcusable. This was addressed a long time ago." (R. 75:42, 44.)

During opening statements, when talking about Britney's case, the prosecutor mentioned Killian rubbing his penis on her. (Pet-App. 9.) The prosecutor said that Britney was "confronted several times by behavior that is inappropriate and illegal." (Pet-App. 9.) He stated that there was "an unmistakable course of conduct that leads one to have no doubt that it was sexually motivated." (Pet-App. 9.) As for Ashley's case, the prosecutor noted that Killian had assaulted her when she was "6 or 7 years old and [it] didn't stop until she was about 17. So approximately 10 years." (Pet-App. 9.) He said that Ashley would testify about the types of sexual assault she endured. (Pet-App. 9.)

Three of the State's witnesses completed their testimony before the circuit court declared a mistrial: Britney's mom, Britney's grandmother, and Britney's forensic

<sup>4</sup> Defense counsel's concern arose because during this discussion, the prosecutor stated, "We are charging one sole act. Interestingly, it appears to me that if more acts are disclosed at trial, the Information could be changed. And it could, in fact, I think naturally prejudice the defendant more." (R. 75:20.) Later, the prosecutor reiterated, "If more facts are introduced at trial, the Court can amend the Information." (R. 75:21.)

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 12 of 25

interviewer. (Pet-App. 9.) The mistrial occurred during Britney's testimony.

Before Britney testified, the prosecutor argued that "other-acts evidence of Killian touching Britney should be admissible because the complaint alleged a 'course of conduct." (Pet-App. 10.) He maintained that evidence of Killian touching Britney's breast or vagina, or that Killian humped her or rubbed his penis on her, wasn't subject to the court's pretrial ruling barring other acts. (Pet-App. 10.)

Defense counsel objected, saying that he'd ask "for a mistrial if that comes out at any point in this trial because that's been thoroughly litigated and decided." (R. 82:16.) The court responded, "Correct." (R. 82:16.) Referencing the allegation that Killian touched Britney's buttocks, counsel said, "That was the only thing that was charged." (R. 82:21.) The court unequivocally agreed:

- "[I]f you look at your Complaint, the Complaint talks about the butt touch on August 18th."
- "The one charged in the Complaint was the butt."
- "[C]learly, the act that's being alleged as the offense is the August 18th butt grab, for the lack of a better description."

# (R. 82:33, 39.)

The circuit court was equally clear about what would happen if the prosecutor tried to introduce the prohibited other-acts evidence at trial:

- "It will be a mistrial."
- "The court's going to rule, because I'm concerned about a mistrial, that the state can bring in . . . grooming type activities but not other sexual assaults."
- "It's going to be prejudicial to the defense when they had a ruling that was different."

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 13 of 25

(R. 82:27, 48–49.)

And the circuit court wasn't shy about its dissatisfaction with the State's last-minute attempts to change its case:

- "[Y]ou don't change your charging document until a day before the trial. That's the problem here."
- "The target keeps moving is the problem."
- "But now we're at trial and defense is basically blindsided."
- "[I]t's a bit disingenuous to pull the rug out from counsel based on those prior rulings."

(R. 82:27, 31, 37, 46.)

Finally, the circuit court doubled down on its previous signal that there'd be no amending the Information to conform to the prohibited evidence. The prosecutor proposed letting "the child speak" and "then at the end of our case, if there's more information, more charges can be brought. The information can be changed." (R. 82:25.) The court responded, "But there was a ruling on that. And then at the eve of trial, you changed the period. . . . You're changing the game on them. If you wanted to include that, then we should have addressed that." (R. 82:25.)

Given the circuit court's ruling, the prosecutor said he'd talk to Britney over the lunch break to make sure she understood "we're going to talk about the butt grab." (Pet-App. 10.) After lunch, he asked the court to reconsider its decision regarding the inadmissible other-acts evidence of Killian touching Britney. (Pet-App. 10–11.) The court denied the motion. (Pet-App. 11.)

Britney testified about inappropriate conversations she'd had with Killian. (Pet-App. 11.) The subject then shifted to what she reported to her mom about him. (Pet-App. 11.) When questioned whether she told her mom something

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 14 of 25

"relating to a private part of your body," Britney revealed that Killian rubbed on her breast and her private spot. (Pet-App. 11.)

Defense counsel immediately objected and asked for a mistrial because of the violation of the circuit court's otheracts ruling. (Pet-App. 12.) The court agreed and granted the mistrial. (Pet-App. 12.) It later dismissed the case with prejudice, finding that the prosecutor intentionally goaded a mistrial. (Pet-App. 12.) The court found that the prosecutor's conduct "was designed to create another chance to convict... a chance to prepare more thoroughly and with a better understanding of the issues, a chance to file different motions and obtain more favorable pretrial rulings, and a chance to add more charges" to increase the likelihood of conviction. (Pet-App. 13.)

The State didn't appeal the circuit court's decision.

# Killian's second prosecution

In October 2019, the State charged Killian with ten crimes concerning Britney and Ashley. (Pet-App. 13.) Unlike the first prosecutions, which involved separate complaints joined only for trial, this time one complaint made allegations involving both victims. The Complaint made allegations that were different both as to the conduct and relevant time periods from the original Complaints.

The first nine counts charged Killian with sexual contact and sexual intercourse with Ashley. (Pet-App. 13.) Three of the nine offenses alleged first-degree sexual assault of a child. (Pet-App. 13.) The remaining six charges alleged incest with a child. (Pet-App. 13.) "Each count was confined to approximately a two-year period, starting as early as around 1990 and ending as late as around 1997." (Pet-App. 13.)

The tenth charge covered Britney. (Pet-App. 13.) It alleged repeated sexual assault of the same child. (Pet-App. 13–14.) The complaint specified that "Killian had touched

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 15 of 25

Britney's breast and pubic mound and had pressed his erect penis against her body." (Pet-App. 13–14.) The charging period allegation was "in or around June 2012, and no later than August 17, 2014." (Pet-App. 14.)

Killian moved to dismiss the complaint on double-jeopardy grounds. (Pet-App. 14.) He argued that he already was tried for the above offenses. (Pet-App. 14.) The circuit court agreed and dismissed the case. (Pet-App. 14.)

The State appealed, and the court of appeals affirmed in a decision recommended for publication. (Pet-App. 31.) It flagged the "key question" as "how to properly identify the offenses for which Killian was in jeopardy of being convicted during his first case." (Pet-App. 16.) The court of appeals utilized *Schultz*'s entire-record test to answer that question. (Pet-App. 17.) But while it said that it would review "the record of the first prosecution in its entirety," it narrowly focused on the prosecutor's statements and actions in deciding the actual scope of jeopardy. (Pet-App. 17–29.)

Because the prosecutor talked about the possibility of adding charges to conform to Britney's possible testimony, because the prosecutor mentioned conduct other than Killian touching Britney's buttocks during opening statements, and because the prosecutor elicited testimony about such uncharged conduct while questioning Britney, the court of appeals held that Killian was in actual danger of conviction for the State's current allegation against him. (Pet-App. 21–25.) It gave no weight to the circuit court's clear statements that (1) Killian only was on trial for touching Britney's buttocks, and (2) it would not allow last-minute changes to the State's case—like adding charges—on grounds of prejudice. (Pet-App. 21–25.) Nor did it matter to the court of appeals that, as promised, the circuit court declared a mistrial as soon as evidence of other sexual assaults came in. (Pet-App. 21–25.)

As for Ashley's case, she never testified. But because the prosecutor tried to add an incest count before trial, made a comment about the possibility of adding that charge based on possible trial evidence, and mentioned admissible other-acts evidence of Killian assaulting her during opening statements, the court of appeals held that he was in jeopardy for the State's current allegations against him. (Pet-App. 25–29.) Again, it gave *no* weight to the circuit court's comments and rulings, including that it would *not* allow amendment of the Information to add the incest charge. (Pet-App. 25–29.)

The State petitions this Court for review.

### **ARGUMENT**

This Court should grant review to (1) decide how courts ascertain the scope of jeopardy when there's a mistrial, and (2) provide guidance on what it means to actually be in danger of conviction and punishment.

To be clear, the State has not and does not challenge the circuit court's finding that the prosecutor intentionally goaded a mistrial in Killian's first prosecution.<sup>5</sup> But this case is about what the Double Jeopardy Clause requires as a result of that misconduct. It mandates that the State cannot charge Killian with the same offenses—no more, no less. *Kennedy*, 456 U.S. at 672–73. The clause doesn't require the government to bring all viable charges against a defendant in one proceeding. *Id.* at 672. The court of appeals' decision went too far.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Nor could the State challenge that finding, anyway.

Case 2020AP002012 Petition for Review Filed 08-17-2022 Page 17 of 25

# A. In crafting its entire-record rule, Schultz didn't consider prosecutions that end in a mistrial.

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