**FILED** 08-31-2022 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT** 

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2020AP2012-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Appellant-Petitioner,

v.

JAMES P. KILLIAN,

Defendant-Respondent.

#### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

TODD E. SCHROEDER State Bar # 1048514 Attorney for Defendant-Respondent

SCHROEDER & LOUGH, S.C. 300 North 2<sup>nd</sup> Street, Suite 200 La Crosse, WI 54601 (608) 784-8055 (608) 784-8091 (Fax) todd@laxdefenders.com

Filed 08-31-2022

#### **

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. The court of appeals decision applies only to the State's unprecedented egregious conduct, which is not likely to recur if the decision is left to stand.

The petition requests review to determine law pertaining to "mistrials" and the lack of precedent for applying the *Schultz<sup>1</sup>* entire-record rule to "mistrials." (Pet. 18.) However, this case will never apply to the vast majority of mistrials, even mistrials caused by prosecutorial harassment and overreaching. *Oregon v. Kennedy*, 456 U.S. 667, 675-676 (1982). Double jeopardy concerns only arise where the prosecutor "intends to subvert the protections afforded by the Double Jeopardy Clause..." and goads the defendant into moving for a mistrial. *Id.* at 676. "Where prosecutorial error even of a degree sufficient to warrant a mistrial has occurred, 'the important consideration, for purposes of the Double Jeopardy Clause, is that the defendant retain primary control over the course to be followed in the event of such error." *Id.* at 676 (quoting *United States v. Dinitz*, 424 U.S. 600, 609 (1976)).

Accordingly, the court of appeals expressly limited its holding to mistrials where "...the State purposely and egregiously induced a mistrial in the first case, with the express purpose of adding more charges in a later-filed case based on facts that had been alluded to many times throughout the first case proceedings." *State v. Killian*, No. 2020AP2012-CR, ¶ 58; (Pet-App. 5.)

The parties have found not a single case where the State *intentionally* goaded the defense into requesting a mistrial for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> State v. Schultz, 2020 WI 24, 390 Wis. 2d 570, 939 N.W.2d 519.

the purpose of retrying the case under a new charging scheme.<sup>2</sup> The utter lack of similar cases demonstrates it is extremely rare for prosecutors to scheme to intentionally sabotage their trials in order to seek a redo on their charging decisions. Thus this case creates a factual nuance in double jeopardy law that will not resurface so long as the State does not intentionally cause mistrials for the purpose of circumventing the Double Jeopardy Clause.

To take the hypothetical presented in the petition as an example, the hypothetical involves a drunk driving allegation from December 31<sup>st</sup>, and a prosecutor stating during opening that the defendant also drove drunk weeks earlier. (Pet. 18.)<sup>3</sup> The State's first witness details the events of December 31<sup>st</sup>, and "during this testimony the prosecutor intentionally goads a mistrial<sup>4</sup>." (Petition 18.) This circumstance would never implicate double jeopardy or the analysis in this case unless the prosecutor intentionally defied court rulings with the specific

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Petitioner cites *United States v. Elmardoudi* as the only case it found "addressing sameness in the context of a government-provoked mistrial," but even that case only touches upon the matter in dicta as the court specifically found that the *Elmardoudi* prosecutors never sought to cause a mistrial. *United States v. Elmardoudi*, 611 F. Supp. 2d 864, 869 (N.D. Iowa 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> There is no indication of the prosecutor's intent in admitting this other act or whether the other act was the subject of prior court orders.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petitioner omits any details regarding how the prosecutor "goaded a mistrial" or the purpose behind the goading of the mistrial, a fact the Court of Appeals found pivotal. *Killian*, 2020AP2012, ¶ 58; (Pet. App. 30)

Filed 08-31-2022

(R. 57: 21); Killian, 2020AP2012, ¶ 22; (Pet-App. 14.) The court stated, "we cannot ignore the circuit court's findings in the first case—which were never appealed and which the State never argues were clearly erroneous or contrary to law—that the prosecutor's misconduct intended to obtain a mistrial so as to then add the additional charges in a subsequent prosecution." Killian, ¶ 29; (Pet-App. 17.) With such a dirty-handed prosecutor, the concern should not be confusion over how Schultz applies in that context, but rather deterring any licensed attorney from ever engaging in that conduct. As discussed below, this decision does that. Therefore, it is not necessary for this Court to further expound upon applying settled principles of law to this very rare fact-pattern.

# II. The Court of Appeals Decision Will Only Deter Future Egregious Behavior

As discussed above, the Court of Appeals decision will not impact trials where prosecutors make mistakes or even intentional overreaches due to misinterpretation or overzealousness. The law in such instances is sound, and such cases are readily distinguishable from this case. The court of appeals decision here will only deter prosecutors from

Filed 08-31-2022

intentionally sabotaging a trial for the specific purpose of adding charges that could have been brought at the outset.

If review were granted, the State would undoubtedly ask this Court to craft the law to permit the State to benefit from the fruits of this misconduct, by letting the State declare the jury trial a dress rehearsal and start anew, implicating the most fundamental protections of the Double Jeopardy Clause: the defendant's right to have the trial completed by the first tribunal, Arizona v. Washinton, 434 U.S. 497, 503 (1978); precluding the State "with all its resources and power" from repeatedly subjecting a defendant to the emotional and financial expense of trial, *United States v. Jorn*, 400 U.S. 470, 479 (1971); preventing the State from "using superior resources" to "harass or achieve a tactical advantage over the accused," Washington, 434 U.S. at 508; and promoting the public interest in the finality of judgments. *Id.* at 503.

The State also contends that the entire-record rule may not be "a good fit" when applied to mistrials because "where a trial ends in a verdict, there's value in seeing how everything played out." (Pet. 18.) This seems brazenly self-serving in a case where the State concedes that the State intentionally sabotaged the trial so that it could never play out in front of the jury. (Pet. 16.) The reason there is not a more complete record in the James Killian trial is that the State deliberately caused a mistrial for the purpose of circumventing double jeopardy and adding the charges at issue here. Such would be the case in

Filed 08-31-2022

every case to which this opinion applies. Thus, reversal of the court of appeals on that ground would reward the State's wrongdoing and enable the State to avoid an entire-record analysis by bailing out of the trial before it ever reaches the jury.

The result should not be to develop the law so that the malfeasor can benefit from the uncertainty created by the wrongdoing. The result should deter defying court orders and intentionally sabotaging jury trials. That is what this decision does. In the very limited context to which it would ever apply, the decision takes away an incentive for the State to strategically cause a mistrial and deprive the parties and community of a determination by the original tribunal.

#### III. Reversing the decision would enable and incentivize prosecutors to repeat the conduct here by defying court rules and coercing defendants to acquiesce.

One need only look to the facts underlying this case to see the necessity of the court of appeals decision. As discussed below, it is undisputed that the prosecutor was aware of all of the conduct charged in this case at all relevant times prior to starting the first trial. This is not a case where the State screwed up case A and the defense is seeking double jeopardy protection of unrelated case B. The circuit court found that the prosecutor brought one charge intending to amend the charging document mid-trial to include "all of the alleged acts." (R.

84:8); see also Killian, ¶ 22; (Pet-App. 14.) The court of appeals held that the State's mission was to prosecute the defendant for all of the charges. Killian, ¶ 29; (Pet-App. 17.) It is also undisputed that, when prohibited from admitting the evidence underlying the "new" charges in the second trial, the prosecutor intentionally sabotaged the trial for the specific purpose of adding the charges to the information. Killian, ¶ 29; (Pet-App. 17.); (Pet. 16).

If the Court of Appeals decision is reversed, the practical implications are that the State can do exactly what was done here: withhold charges from the charging document, seek to prove up the withheld charges, and use the potential of bringing the new charges at a subsequent trial as an attempt to coerce the defendant *during* the jury trial. The State can use the threat of charges discretionarily left off the charging document to coerce the defense to acquiesce to the State defying trial court rules.

Even again in this case, if the court of appeals case is reversed, the prosecutor could limit the new trial to, say, Count 10, punishable by 60 years in prison. Then the prosecutor could bring forth evidence of all 10 counts, intending to either add them at the close of trial or at least benefit from the prejudicial impact of the evidence. If the defense objects, the prosecutor can threaten the defendant, saying "if you object and cause a mistrial, you will face another trial involving

Counts 1-9, totaling 140 years." The prosecutor can also defy the circuit court judge's trial rules trusting that either the defendant will be rational enough to stop objecting or a mistrial will ensue rendering the current trial a dress-rehearsal. This might seem factitious but for it is *exactly* what happened already in this case.<sup>5</sup>

The fact that there is no precedent for this sort of prosecutorial misconduct is hopefully a result of conscience coupled with a presumption that the Double Jeopardy Clause forbids it. The court of appeals decision only reinforces the former and clarifies the latter. Thus it will not impede any clean-handed advocate, but will keep this sort of egregious

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the original trial judge's finding, which the State never appealed, Judge Becker writes: "The facts viewed as a whole, and viewed objectively, point to the prosecutor taking direct and intentional action believing that one of two things would happen if he proceeded in his quest to introduce the other acts. One, if he introduced the prohibited testimony the defense would not object and he had gotten it before the jury; or, two, if the defendant objected and a mistrial was declared, the State could retry the case and add additional charges, thereby increasing its change of conviction. Given a chance at a new trial, the State would likely have a better outcome because their strategy would change, and thus the motions would be posed and ruled upon differently and more favorably to the State. His witnesses would be better prepared as well. ... The Court finds also that the prosecutor's conduct was designed to create another chance to convict, and was an act done so as to allow the State another 'kick at the cat'--..., and a chance to add more charges and incriminating evidence into the record in the hopes of solidifying the State's chances of conviction." (R. 21: 21.) For references to threatening the defendant during trial with more charges if he objects, see (R. 83:39-40); see also (R. 21:19).

Filed 08-31-2022

behavior at bay. Reversing the court of appeals, however, could drastically change the landscape. The prosecutor who perhaps never thought to engage in such coercive conduct may now feel that zealous advocacy requires marginalizing and defying the judge and utilizing a coercive charging scheme at trial, since it will have been condoned.

The court of appeals decision is sound, narrowlytailored to the facts of this egregious case and should be allowed to stand.

#### ISSUES UNRESOLVED BY THE COURT OF APPEALS

I. Whether the *Ashe* doctrine of issue preclusion, implicit in the Double **Jeopardy** Clause. warrants dismissal.

Killian also argued that the Ashe doctrine prohibited retrial under the Double Jeopardy Clause. (Killian's Br. 21.) Ashe held that when an issue of ultimate fact, such as identity, is determined by a verdict or final judgment, then the Double Jeopardy Clause prohibits relitigating the issue. Ashe v. Swenson, 397 U.S. 436, 443 (1970). Specifically, where the State lost a trial involving a burglary against person A, and the ultimate issue was the defendant's identity, then the State could not retry the defendant for burglarizing person B under the same fact patten. Ashe, 397 U.S. 436 at 446. The Ashe doctrine applies were the State "lost an earlier prosecution involving the

Filed 08-31-2022

same facts." United States v. Dixon, 509 U.S. 688, 705 (1993)(emphasis supplied).

Here, the State's theory of the case was that Mr. Killian committed a "course of conduct" involving Brittany that included numerous instances of sexual contact (78: 46-48), and that he "had been molesting [Ashley]" since she was 6 years old until she was 17. (R. 78: 50.) The theory of defense was that the allegations never happened, that Britney was susceptible to biased interviewing from her mother, tainted by her mother's own sexual assault history, and that Ashley fabricated the allegations against Killian after Britney's mother questioned Ashley about a documented extortion attempt, where Ashley, during her parents' divorce, threatened to accuse Killian of sexual assault if he did not pay her \$20,000. (R. 79:5-14.) Thus, it would be irrational to believe an acquittal turned on confusion about how many times or during which dates the alleged assaults occurred or upon whether Ashely and Killian were relatives. An acquittal would mean the jury did not find the accusations sufficiently credible or reliable to meet the burden. The Ashe doctrine mandates that Killian does not have to relitigate this fact pattern in front of separate juries at separate trials on each count.

For the same reasons that support applying the Schultz entire-record rule to this mistrial, the Ashe doctrine should also apply to this mistrial, as otherwise, the State would

Filed 08-31-2022

be able to escape the perils of issue-preclusion by intentionally causing a mistrial to prevent the jury from determining the ultimate issues. (Killian's Br. 25-26.) The court of appeals did not address this argument after affirming on other grounds. Killian, ¶ 4 n. 4. (Pet-App. 5.)

#### II. Whether the common law doctrine of issue preclusion rooted in the Due Process Clause warrants dismissal.

Killian also argued that the State was estopped from bringing the second prosecution because it litigated whether it could prosecute Killian for more charges in front of Judge Becker, lost, and never appealed. Killian explained that issue preclusion also applies to decisions that do not resolve the factual merits. (Killian's Br., 27 (citing as examples *United* States v. Kaytso, 868 F.2d 1020, 1022 (9th Cir. 1989) and United States v. Harvey, 900 F.2d 1253, 1257 (8th Cir. 1990)). Killian argued that Judge Becker explicitly found that double jeopardy precluded the State from getting "...another 'kick at the cat'—a chance to prepare more thoroughly...and a chance to add more charges..." (R. 21:21.) Because the State did not appeal the order, but rather it simply took another kick at the cat, prepared more thoroughly and added more charges, the State is estopped from re-litigating whether double jeopardy permits this prosecution.

The court of appeals did not address this argument after affirming on other grounds. Killian, ¶ 4 n. 4; (Pet-App. 5.)

#### CONCLUSION

For the above-stated reasons, This Court should deny the petition for review in this matter.